









Table of Contents

Global Shale Gas and the Anti-Fracking Movement

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

Overview1
Water Contamination Worker Health and Safety Concerns The Anti-Fracking Movement
The Global Growth of Shale Gas Hydraulic Fracturing4
The Impact of Shale Gas on Renewable Energy in the U.S. Multinationals Move In on Gas Will New Free Trade Agreements Fast Track Fracking?
The Anti-Fracking Movement6
Water Contamination and Access Mystery Chemicals and Health-Related Concerns Displacement of Indigenous People and Destruction of Culture Fugitive Methane and Climate Concerns Anti-Fracking Activism at the Local Level Regulate or Ban? Movement Divisions The U.S. Experience with Regulation and Regulatory Processes The Case of Illinois U.S. Federal Regulation – and Industry Self-Regulation From Local Struggles to National Moratoriums A Global Movement Emerging?
Trade Unions and Fracking15
The United States and Canada Does Fracking Create Jobs? Global Trade Union Bodies National Trade Union Centers
Conclusion19
Appendix: Model Resolution – for Discussion20
References21

This paper was prepared by Sean Sweeney and Lara Skinner.

Published by Trade Unions for Energy Democracy (TUED), in cooperation with the Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung—New York Office and the Global Labor Institute at Cornell University, June 2014

With support from the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ) Cover image: Nicolas Raymond, www.freestock.ca

Trade Unions for Energy Democracy (TUED) is a global, multi-sector initiative to advance democratic direction and control of energy in a way that promotes solutions to the climate crisis, energy poverty, the degradation of both land and people, and responds to the attacks on workers' rights and protections.

www.energydemocracyinitiative.org



Global Shale Gas and the Anti-Fracking Movement

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

Whis paper has been prepared to assist unions and their close allies who wish to better understand the impacts of shale gas drilling, or "fracking," and want to develop a position or approach to fracking that protects workers, communities, and the environment. It begins with a summary of the shale gas industry's global expansion, and then looks at the opposition to fracking that has emerged in a number of key countries. A preliminary profile of the anti-fracking movement highlights the goals and characteristics of this movement as well as the issues that lie at the heart of the resistance. The paper

concludes by attempting to bring together the available information on unions' perspectives and positions on this increasingly important issue. It also raises for discussion the prospect of unions giving support to a global moratorium on fracking based either on the precautionary principle (the health and environmental effects are not fully understood or have still to be adequately addressed) or on the more definitive assessment that fracking can never be sufficiently safe in terms of its impact on health and the environment and should therefore be stopped altogether.

Overview

Hydraulic fracturing, horizontal drilling, or "fracking," as it is commonly called, pumps large volumes of water, sand, and chemicals into a gas well to fracture or crack the shale and other tight rock formations, releasing gas into the wells. The process typically involves drilling approximately three kilometers below the earth's surface, and then one to three kilometers horizontally. Hydraulic drilling has been used since the 1940s but its use has increased significantly during the last ten years due to the addition of directional and horizontal drilling techniques, which allows the oil and gas industry to access previously out-of-reach shale reserves.¹

The production of shale gas by way of hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling (fracking) has already had a major impact on both energy and ecology in the United States. From its birthplace in the Barnett Shale in East Texas in 2002, fracking has spread to 17 states, with more than 80,000 wells drilled or permitted since 2005. Moreover, the oil and gas industry is aggressively seeking to expand fracking to new states—including New York, California, and North Carolina.²

In the last few years fracking has also gone global. The discovery of large volumes of new and potentially exploitable shale gas deposits has led to exploration and drilling in a growing number of countries.³ The U.S. remains the clear leader in shale gas development and use but shale gas production is already underway in Canada (where it has been happening for some time) and exploration and/or drilling is either

 Fractures enable natural gas to flow into the well

4. Natural gas flows out of well and stored in tanks Pumper truck Recovered water stored in pit before treatment 2. Sand, water, and chemicals Hydraulic fracking makes it possible to extract large are pumped into amounts of natural gas by ground at high drilling into rock to depth of 7,000 feet or more. racture shale Here's how it works: Sand helps . keep fissures open

Graphic: Laura Mihelich/MEDILL Reports, Northwestern University

proposed or happening in Argentina, Australia, Austria, China, France, Germany, Hungary, India, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Romania, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Ukraine, and the United Kingdom.⁴ The practice has also been promoted globally by the U.S. Department of State's 2010 Shale Gas Initiative, which urges the adoption of legislation favorable to fracking. The Initiative claims that shale gas is a "lower carbon fuel option" and thus can help in the fight against climate change.⁵

Water Contamination

Shale

The evidence strongly suggests that fracking poses serious dangers to workers, communities, and the natural environment with particu-

larly severe impacts in terms of water contamination and access. Fracking just one well can use between 2 million to 5.6 million gallons of freshwater (7.6 million liters to 21 million liters) and produce between 420,000 to 2.5 million gallons of wastewater (1.6 million liters to 9.4 million liters), known as "produced" water or "flowback," which is water mixed with frack fluid.6 The remaining high volume mix of non-biodegradable waste remains underground and under pressure. Freshwater aquifers, waterways and drinking wells can, and have been, contaminated when hydraulic fracturing inadvertently pierces and then leaks gas and drilling chemicals into fresh water drinking supplies. In fact, the force from hydraulic fracturing—both the drilling itself and the reinjection of "flowback" or "produced water" into old wells—is so

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

great that it has caused earthquakes in several regions.⁷ The wastewater produced by fracking has also been a source of water contamination—water treatment plants have yet to find a way to safely remove the chemicals used in fracking.⁸ This means that fracking chemicals are circulated back into natural waterways or drinking water supplies with seriously negative implications for public health and the environment.⁹ In some cases, wastewater treatment plants have refused to accept fracking wastewater because they cannot properly treat it and this has incited illegal dumping of wastewater on roads or in fields.¹⁰

Worker Health and Safety Concerns

In addition to water and chemicals, silica sand is injected in fracking wells to act as a "proppant," keeping underground fractures open to allow natural gas to flow to the surface of the well. Exposure to silica causes silicosis, lung cancer, and other debilitating diseases and thus makes fracking a major health and safety concern for workers in the fracking industry and for nearby communities.11 Large quantities of silica sand are used in fracking -each fracking well uses about four million pounds, or 1,800 metric tons, of silica sand.12 The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health has monitored workers' exposure to silica at eleven different fracking sites in five U.S. states. Of the 116 samples they collected 47% showed silica exposure levels greater than is acceptable under U.S. Occupational Health and Safety Administration's (OSHA) rules; 79% showed silica exposure levels higher than is permissible under the more robust National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health recommendations; and 9% of the samples showed silica exposure levels ten times higher than is permissible under OSHA rules.13

The emissions and climate impacts of fracking are equally serious. Scientific data strongly sug-

gests that shale gas (in full life-cycle terms) is more greenhouse gas (GHG)-intensive than coal due to methane leakage from drilling sites. ¹⁴ Moreover, the growing presence of shale gas in the global energy system is undermining renewable energy (particularly in the U.S.), thus exacerbating fracking's likely climate effects.

The Anti-Fracking Movement

These and other concerns have sparked an opposition movement to fracking that is diverse, vibrant, and global. The movement's goals range from the desire to regulate fracking in order to make it safe (or safer) to the wish to ban fracking completely. The strategies and tactics of the organizations engaged in the movement vary somewhat but anti-fracking organizations have, until recently, been mainly local groups trying to influence local political processes.15 However, the movement's effectiveness in securing moratoria on fracking in several countries (as well as a large number of regions, cities, and towns) is solidifying the movement on a global level, so much so that the gas industry has itself begun to monitor the movement's growth. One industry-sponsored study refers to "hostile lobby groups" that "exert disproportionate influence over government policy, [create] political instability delay[ing] essential reforms, contracts are subject to uncertainty or occasional change, elements of the infrastructure are deficient, or the activities of unions or protest groups impede operations."16

Unions around the world are beginning to pay attention to fracking's effects on workers, communities and the environment. However, even in the U.S. where fracking is most developed, as of late 2013 many unions had yet to take a position. However, there are exceptions. Some unions are actively supporting fracking, and others are doing the opposite. For examples, the Building and Construction Trades division of the AFL-CIO is openly engaged in a pro-fracking alli-

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

GLOBAL SHALE GAS AND THE ANTI-FRACKING MOVEMENT

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

ance with the oil and gas industries (see below) in both the U.S. and Canada, despite numerous studies showing that the oil and gas industry consistently and dramatically overestimates the number of jobs and economic benefits that will be produced by fracking.¹⁷ On the other hand, two of Canada's largest unions, CUPE and UNIFOR, have called for a national moratorium on fracking.¹⁸ In the UK, the TUC 2012 annual conference passed a resolution that stated, "The principle of precaution should be applied when developing new energies and the health of people and the environment should be put before

profit." Effectively, the motion calls for a moratorium on the fracking method of gas extraction "unless proven harmless for people and the environment."¹⁹

Given the push on the part of the gas industry to drill for shale gas in many parts of the world, it will be increasingly important for unions to fully understand its impact on workers, unions, communities, and the environment and to develop positions and an approach to fracking that will protect workers and strengthen the trade union movement over the long-term.

The Global Growth of Shale Gas Hydraulic Fracturing

Hydraulic Fracturing (fracking) for shale gas is rapidly becoming a global phenomenon. The known amount of technically recoverable oil and gas from shale formations has increased by a factor of ten in the past two years and several countries seem determined to follow the lead of the U.S.²⁰

In a major 2011 study, the International Energy Agency (IEA) asked *Are We Entering a Golden Age of Gas?*²¹ The IEA offered a scenario where natural gas use will increase 50 percent by 2035, with 35 percent of this growth coming from unconventional sources like tight gas, coal bed methane, and shale gas. The term "unconventional" refers to the techniques used to extract difficult to reach reserves as well as the source of those reserves.²²

A June 2013 study sponsored by the U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) and compiled by Advanced Resources International (ARI) provided further data to support the "golden age" hypothesis. The World Shale Gas and Shale Oil Resource Assessment calculated an estimated 7.3 trillion cubic feet of "technically recoverable"

shale gas resources.²³ More than 41 countries are thought to have significant-to-large supplies and a total of 137 shale formations have been cited for exploration and development but two-thirds of the assessed, technically recoverable, shale gas is concentrated in just six countries: Algeria, Argentina, Canada, China, Mexico, and the U.S.²⁴

The global expansion of shale gas development is being driven in part by significant advances in horizontal and directional drilling, well stimulation technologies, and advances in the cost effectiveness of these technologies. "Hydraulic fracturing" is the most significant of these new technologies, and it is this knowledge that has triggered the exploration of shale gas resources around the world.²⁵ What was once impossible is now being pursued on a global scale.

The Impact of Shale Gas on Renewable Energy in the U.S.

Most people assume that the rise in the development of shale gas simply displaces fossil fu-



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

els. The reality is that drilling for shale gas has had a negative impact on renewable energy in the U.S.²⁶ Citing low gas prices as a major factor, Siemens announced it was laying off 615 wind energy job in Florida, Iowa, and Kansas in September 2012.27 A study of the state of Ohio found that the development of shale gas has dealt a huge blow to the state's wind industry, despite Ohio being a national leader in its development.28 In 2010, the state possessed 106 wind power supply chain businesses and 63 solar power supply chain businesses, employing 9,000 workers. Since then, many of these companies have declared bankruptcy, and thousands of workers have lost their jobs.²⁹ Proponents of natural gas as a "bridge fuel" to renewable energy argue that increased availability of natural gas would displace dirtier fuels like coal. The use of coal has indeed declined in the U.S. as power stations switch to gas, but cheap gas, coupled with the threatened expiration of a government tax credit, led to 10,000 layoffs in the wind sector between 2009-2012.30

Some analysts believe that the negative impact of gas on the growth of renewable energy will only be temporary and over the longer term renewable energy will displace both coal and gas for power generation.³¹ But given the need for rapid development of renewable energy in order to meet the kind of emissions reductions levels proposed by the scientific community, any delay or setback to renewable energy is likely to have serious repercussions.

Multinationals Move In on Gas

To understand the role that multinational corporations are now playing in the shale gas industry, it is important to look at what has happened in the U.S. Small, independent, non-union companies were once situated on the cutting-edge of the shale gas boom, but these have since been displaced by more powerful

players. Exxon-Mobil bought out XTO in 2009 for a total of \$41 billion. In 2010, seven further shale gas transactions, each ranging from \$1 to \$5 billion, were completed in North America, according to the IEA. Shell purchased a \$4.7 billion stake in Virginia-based East Resources and Chevron purchased a \$4.3 billion stake in Pittsburgh-based Atlas Energy. In May 2011, Chevron announced it was buying 228,000 acres of leases for drilling from Chief Oil & Gas LLC and Tug Hill Inc. in Southwestern Pennsylvania. Hess reportedly leases over 80,000 acres with the Northern Wayne Property Owners Alliance, a Pennsylvania landowners' group.³²

By 2012, four companies—Halliburton Co., Schlumberger Ltd., Baker Hughes Inc.'s BJ Services unit, and Frac Tech Services LLC—provided more than half of North American fracking services. Halliburton topped the group with 18% of the market, followed by Schlumberger at 13%, BJ Services with 12% and Frac Tech with 11%.³³

The global shale gas expansion is today being driven politically and economically by multinationals and partnerships between the larger companies. For example, Chinese companies (such as the Chinese National Offshore Oil Corporation—CNOOC, and PetroChina) have entered into partnerships with Shell and Statoil, while BP is working with the Chinese giant Sinopec. In the U.S., Shell, Exxon-Mobil, Chevron, and BP have gravitated toward shale gas, with BP purchasing a 25 percent stake in Chesapeake Energy, once one of the largest drillers in the Marcellus Shale. China's own shale gas reserves are apparently considerable and Sinopec and CNOOC have formed partnerships with U.S. based multinationals as well as BP to drill there.34 According to the Transnational Institute, the drillers include "global corporations such as Apache, Chesapeake, Chevron, Dart, Encana, Exxon Mobil, Schuepbach, Talisman, Shell, etc."35

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

Will New Free Trade Agreements Fast Track Fracking?

The Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) and the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP), two new trade agreements currently under negotiation, are expected to expand investor protection clauses that could cause an increase in gas drilling and fracking.

The TPP is a proposed free trade agreement between twelve countries: the U.S., Canada, Mexico, Chile, Peru, Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia, Singapore, Vietnam, Japan, and Brunei.³⁶ The TTIP includes the U.S. and 27 nations of the European Union.

Both agreements are expected to expand a legal framework activate under the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), called "investor-state equivalency." This clause allows foreign companies to challenge and potentially overturn vital local, state, and national labor, public health, domestic content, and environmental safeguards that are seen as "trade barriers" and lower profit expectations.³⁷

In 2012, a U.S. owned oil and gas company, Lone Pine Resources, sued Quebec for \$250 million over its fracking moratorium.³⁸ The company claims that Quebec's fracking ban prevents the company from profiting from oil and gas mining in the St. Lawrence Valley.

Even if a law or regulation demonstrates a clear public purpose, these investor protection claus-

es still give companies the right to be compensated at fair market value.³⁹ This eliminates the risk related to companies investing in projects that threaten community and public wellbeing as taxpayers will be held responsible for compensating the firm. Taxpayers are also saddled with the legal fees governments amass defending regulations and laws from corporations.

Hundreds of sub-national and national bans against fracking have been passed throughout the world in the last few years (see below). Regional or national fracking bans have been passed in the U.S., Bulgaria, France, the U.K., South Africa, Germany, Romania, the Czech Republic, Argentina, Ireland, Australia, and Canada. These moratoria against fracking would be threatened by the TPP and TTIP.

The TPP also threatens to significantly expand the market for shale liquid natural gas exports from the U.S., driving more fracking and natural gas drilling in the U.S.41 Japan, one of the countries participating in the TPP, is the largest importer of liquid natural gas (LNG) in the world. It accounts for 33% of the world's LNG import market, importing 78.8 million tons in 2011.42 A 2012 study of LNG exports by the U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Fossil Energy stated that the U.S. public would not benefit from increasing LNG exports. Instead, the study said that it would only benefit those who rely on investment dividends, as opposed to wages and could negatively impact U.S. consumers by causing the price of natural gas to increase.43

The Anti-Fracking Movement

The global growth in fracking has been met with a high level of resistance. Wherever fracking is happening or has been proposed, it has almost invariably generated opposition. In some instances the opposition has involved direct actions and civil disobedience; in others, anti-fracking activists have used conventional public oversight procedures to appeal to local

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

and regional decision makers and, in a growing number of instances, national parliaments. Today the anti-fracking movement is showing signs of cohering into an international movement—one in which unions can still play an important role.

There are several core issues driving anti-fracking activism, each of which are reviewed below. Initially, concerns focused mainly on water consumption and contamination. More recently, a number of research studies have revealed that the emissions impact of fracking is probably much larger than was previously believed, and this is also contributing to growing levels of activism.

Water Contamination and Access

As noted above, the impact of fracking on water is a major issue for the anti-fracking movement. "Produced water" often returns to the surface containing measurable concentrations of radioactive materials and huge concentrations of salt. This puts stress on water treatment facilities that were not designed to process this kind of wastewater. Hence, produced water is often left in large ponds where the water eventually evaporates or seeps into the surrounding land. Sometimes the water is dumped into mainstream waterways.44 A recent report calculated that 280 billion gallons of toxic wastewater were produced by U.S. wells in 2012, while 145,000 hectares of U.S. land have been directly damaged as the result of drilling since 2005.45

Concerns about water scarcity have also solidified the anti-fracking movements in several countries, such as France (Rhône-Alps) and South Africa (the Karoo region), as well as in the U.S., especially in the Western states that have been enduring serious drought conditions in recent years. In South Africa, 24 exploratory fracking wells are expected to use over 200,000 cubic meters of water in a region where barely any

water is available. This has provoked opposition from farmers and, significantly, farm workers. 46 South African anti-fracking groups also note that the benefits of fracking will go to the rich and not to the rural poor and urban working class. In China, efforts are underway to exploit almost 230 billion cubic feet of shale gas, requiring an estimated 485 billion cubic feet of water. Little is known about anti-fracking activity in China but much is known concerning water scarcity—China's per capita water availability is barely 25 percent of the global average. 47

Mystery Chemicals and Health-Related Concerns

In the U.S., the gas industry has been criticized for failing to disclose the chemicals used in hydraulic fracking. This non-disclosure is also a major driver of resistance in the U.S., and this seems to be the case in a number of other countries.

The chemicals used in fracking have been linked to poor health in people and to the death of farm animals. The actual composition of the fluid used in fracking is kept secret by the industry. However, a study undertaken by the US House of Representatives in 2011 noted that, of 2,500 fracking inputs, 650 are chemicals and several of these are carcinogens and hazardous air pollutants. The quantities used are vast. The study reported that fourteen oil and gas companies injected 780 million gallons of fracking chemicals and other substances into wells, including 10.2 million gallons of fluids containing known or suspected carcinogens and 11.7 million gallons containing chemicals regulated under the Safe Drinking Water Act. 48

According to a study conducted by New York State's Department of Environmental Conservation, each well will inject 49,000-159,000 gallons of unknown chemicals into the ground. The impact of the chemicals used in shale gas

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

drilling, both in the short and long term, remains unknown. The sheer scale of the shale gas boom has heightened concerns with regard to the impact of such a massive use of "mystery chemicals." In New York State, the gas industry hopes to receive permits for the construction of 42,126 wells in the next 30 years.⁴⁹ As one study notes, "without rigorous scientific studies, the gas drilling boom sweeping the world will remain an uncontrolled health exeriment on an enormous scale."⁵⁰

Displacement of Indigenous People and Destruction of Culture

In the Americas, indigenous people have been an important force in the struggle against fracking, especially in Argentina and Canada, largely due to concerns about displacement and destruction of their culture.

In Argentina, where large deposits of shale gas have been discovered, the state-owned energy company YPF has entered into an agreement with Chevron to drill in several regions of the country. Today Shell, Exxon, Petrobras, Apache, Dow, and Total, among others, are exploring Neuquén's shale formations. Moreover, YPF intends to explore in Uruguay, Bolivia, Paraguay, and Chile.⁵¹

The indigenous Mapuche people of Neuquén in Patagonia consider fracking to be a threat to their communities and their culture and have thus been at the forefront of the anti-fracking fight. Again water—which carries with it deep religious significance for the Mapuche and other indigenous people in the Americas—is a central focus of the struggle. An environmental impact study conducted in the region by a German consultancy firm found that 630,000 cubic meters of soil had been contaminated with chromium, lead, arsenic, naphtaline, and pyrene, as well as other heavy metals in the water.⁵² The levels of contamination have been se-

rious enough that the Argentinean government has resorted to bringing in water by truck to Mapuche communities. It is important that the struggle of the Mapuche be seen in the context of decades of indigenous people's resistance to mining and drilling and to the displacements of communities and destruction of indigenous culture.

The Mapuche have initiated a series of militant actions. For example, they seized a gas processing plant near Zapala in late 2011 as a means of expressing anger at the contamination of sacred water supplies.53 In late August 2013, 5,000 protesters in Neuquén clashed with police as the Neuquén parliament was poised to legalize drilling. According to Observatorio Petrolero Sur (OPSUR), "In seven hours of protests, more than 25 people were injured with rubber bullets and tear gas; one of them, a 33-year old teacher accompanied by his son, was hit by a lead gunshot in the chest. Several people were detained. In spite of the situation in the streets, that day the parliament approved the agreement."54 Houses of a Mapuche community were burnt as retaliation for the protest. The following day, August 23, 2011, 10,000 mobilized to protest both the repression of the previous day and the YPF-Chevron agreement. Despite the crackdown, anti-fracking resistance has led to fifteen local authorities banning fracking across five provinces in Argentina.

Indigenous people have also been at the center of the three-year old anti-fracking movement in New Brunswick, Canada, where direct action methods have frequently been used and an encampment established.⁵⁵ Both water scarcity and the religious significance of water among First Nations are again central concerns.

In June 2013 a three-day battle ensued between members of Elsipogtog First Nations people and police in New Brunswick, Canada. The former surrounded a parked gas industry vehicle and refused company efforts to reclaim it. A



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

demonstration of 100 Elsipogtog outside the offices of Southwestern Energy, the company leading the shale gas exploration effort, led to a number of arrests. In December 2013, members of the Mi'kmaq and Maliseet First Nations staged protests against shale gas exploration in New Brunswick.⁵⁶

Fugitive Methane and Climate Concerns

At the point of combustion, natural gas generates up to 50 percent fewer emissions than coal per unit of energy produced. Given this, the majority of mainstream environmental groups in the U.S. have regarded natural gas (including shale gas) as a 'bridge fuel' from coal to renewable energy. However, in the last few years data from a number of studies has drawn attention to the methane escaping from drilling sites (known as "fugitive methane") and there is now considerable evidence to suggest that, from a climate perspective, burning shale gas is no better than burning coal and may in fact be worse. As a result of this new data, the anti-fracking movement is beginning to gain more support among mainstream environmental organizations in the Global North.

Per molecule, the global warming potential of methane is far higher than that of CO₂, 34 times stronger as a heat-trapping gas than CO₂ over a 100-year time scale, and 86 times more powerful over a 20-year time frame according to the Intergovernmental Panel on climate Change (IPCC).⁵⁷ Methane leakage levels of just 1.5%-3% of gas harvested would erase all of the GHG-related benefits of using gas instead of coal.⁵⁸

A number of studies by leading scientists suggest that methane leakage rates from shale gas drilling have been seriously underestimated. The work of Robert W. Howarth at Cornell University and Drew Shindell and Gabrielle Pétron of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Ad-

ministration, support this conclusion. Howarth's study reported that 75% of wells sampled within one kilometer of gas drilling in the Marcellus shale in Pennsylvania were contaminated with methane.⁵⁹ More recently, a comprehensive atmospheric study released in November 2013 by Scot M. Miller of Harvard University's Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences and his team claimed that, based on methane measurements in the South-Central United States, the oil and gas industries may be emitting nearly five times the methane that had previously been estimated by the Emission Database for Global Atmospheric Research (EDGAR).60 These studies have to some extent dispelled the better-than-coal "bridge fuel" status of shale gas and mainstream environmental organizations seem to be adjusting their positions accordingly.

How important is fugitive methane from a climate change perspective? According to Howarth and Shindell, fugitive methane from shale gas drilling will produce between 21% and 52% more emissions over a 20-year time frame than coal for the same amount of energy generated. These scientists have predicted that unless emissions of methane (and black carbon) are reduced immediately, the Earth will warm to 1.5 degrees Celsius by 2030 and to 2.0 degrees Celsius by 2045 to 2050 whether or not carbon dioxide emissions are reduced. However, reducing methane (and black carbon) emissions, even if carbon dioxide is not controlled, would significantly slow the rate of global warming and postpone reaching the 1.5 degree Celsius and 2.0 degrees Celsius thresholds by 12 to 15 years.

Currently, many anti-fracking activists are either unaware of the fugitive methane issue or regard it as having limited potential to organize resistance at the local level. However, this could change as more is known about methane's global warming potential and large green organizations and NGOs turn away from the "bridge fuel" perspective.



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

Anti-Fracking Activism at the Local Level

Hundreds of anti-fracking groups have emerged in more than a dozen countries in recent years. Very few of these groups grew out of the established environmental organizations. France's anti-fracking Collectif movement, for example, grew from inside the regions identified for shale gas development and encompassed more than 260 groups nationwide by May 2012.61 New York State's formidable anti-fracking network evolved from small groups of upstate farmers and residents, although NGOs like Food & Water Watch now play an important role. The groups in New York have also benefited from the activism of groups in Pennsylvania, the main focus of which has been to alert communities in their neighboring state of the many negative impacts of fracking on water supplies, property values, roads and other infrastructure, and the health of residents.62 In the UK, anti-fracking activity is presently sustained by a wide range of groups concerned about the despoilment of the countryside and the negative impacts on rural life as well as climate change and larger societal questions.

The anti-fracking movement is also quite diverse both in terms of its goals and the range of issues and sentiments that generate activism. In Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, and France, for example, the opposition to fracking is built around concerns of foreign multinationals taking over local and national resources. 63 Chevron recently secured 650,000 hectares of concessions in Romania, bringing to 800,000 hectares the total amount of land under its control, or about 3.5% of the country's surface territory. Protests have focused around the village of Pungesti in the country's North West region. In Poland, nine million hectares, almost a third of the country's entire land area, have been opened up to corporations for exploration and drilling. Resistance to fracking from Poland's rural communities appears to be rising, and Shell is moving to take advantage of shale gas in the Ukraine, where anti-fracking groups are also being formed. ⁶⁴

In Argentina, where indigenous groups have taken the lead, the anti-fracking movement has also gained momentum around issues of energy sovereignty and calls to resist the takeover of Argentina's energy resources by foreign multinationals. Chevron has invested \$1.5 billion in the nationalized company YPF for shale gas development.65 In Mexico, the present government is seeking to amend the Mexican Constitution in order to allow foreign companies to develop Mexico's energy resources. And while civil society has focused mostly on fighting the proposed privatization of the state owned oil company PEMEX, the amendment would also open the door for private multinationals to develop fracking in the Northeast and the Gulf of Mexico. Pemex is already exploring for shale gas in the Salinas-Burgos-Picachos basin, an extension of Texas' Eagle Ford shale. The recently launched Mexican Alliance Against Fracking has urged elected representatives "to consider the serious negative and irreversible implications [of fracking] for the Mexican people and the environment."66

In a growing number of examples, opposition to multinationals is mixed with concerns about how fracking will affect people's livelihoods and quality of life in the mostly rural areas where hydraulic fracturing occurs, as noted above in the case of the UK. This is evident in many struggles, with Australia and Ireland also providing good examples.⁶⁷ In the UK, the focus of the first high profile, community-led opposition to fracking emerged in a small village of Balcombe, Sussex, during summer 2013. The village, located 30 miles south of London, comprises about 1700 residents of whom 85% were polled as against fracking exploration.68 Exploratory drilling by the Caudrilla corporation prompted a strong response from the local community, supported by the mobilization



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

International Energy Agency Golden Rules

The Golden Rules underline that full transparency, measuring, and monitoring of environmental impacts and engagement with local communities are critical to addressing public concerns. Careful choice of drilling sites can reduce the above-ground impacts and most effectively target the productive areas, while minimizing any risk of earthquakes or of fluids passing between geological strata. Leaks from wells into aquifers can be prevented by high standards of well design, construction and integrity testing. Rigorous assessment and monitoring of water requirements (for shale and tight gas), of the quality of produced water (for coal bed methane), and of waste water for all types of unconventional gas can ensure informed and stringent decisions about water handling and disposal. Production-related emissions of local pollutants and greenhouse-gas emissions can be reduced by investments to eliminate venting and flaring during the well-completion phase.

of anti-fracking activists not just from neighboring towns and villages but converging from all over the country. ⁶⁹ Anti-fracking activity has spread to the Manchester region. In Australia, protests in Melbourne against gas drilling mobilized around the slogan "Farmland not Gasland."⁷⁰

Regulate or Ban? Movement Divisions

The notion that fracking could perhaps be done safely has sometimes opened up a 'ban' versus 'regulate' divide within the anti-fracking movement.71 Though generating tensions, it has not stopped the movement's overall momentum.72 Some groups have approached the issue tactically: by shaping emerging regulatory regimes through grassroots activism (especially via public commentary periods), opponents of fracking can insist on regulations that are strict enough to make fracking commercially unviable or technically impossible. In Germany proposed regulations—presently awaiting parliamentary debate—would forbid fracking near water supplies or close to national parks or conservation areas, with each application to drill requiring its own environmental impact study.73 However, others in the movement are concerned that engaging in the development of regulatory frameworks merely spreads the illusion that fracking can be safe if adequately regulated. They regard this as a gift to the gas industry, and indeed the IEA has presented its Golden Rules guidelines (see below) as an opportunity for the industry to "get its act together," and thereby achieve a "social license to operate."

The gas industry initially dismissed those who have raised concerns about fracking as ideologically motivated individuals making claims that are empirically groundless and damaging to job creation and economic growth. However, in 2012 the IEA acknowledged that the environmental concerns about fracking were neither groundless nor trivial, and the Agency proposed a series of "golden rules" for the gas industry in order to establish safe, or safer, practices fo shale gas drilling.

The U.S. Experience with Regulation and Regulatory Processes

Voices in the pro-ban wing of the anti-fracking movement have little confidence that the indus-



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

try will diligently observe the IEA's golden rules, and they note that the capacity of authorities to regulate the industry is often weak, due to the number of wells being constructed and the lack of funds and inspectors—problems faced by regulatory authorities almost everywhere. Regulators often reveal a lack of knowledge of the processes involved in fracking, making effective regulation even more difficult.

In the United States, state-level regulatory agencies have been criticized for their cursory handling of gas industry permit applications. For example, in Pennsylvania, Republican Governor Tom Corbett passed an executive order in mid-2012 aimed at speeding up the permitting process handled by the State's Department of Environmental Protection. Under the order, the timely issuing of permits became a factor in the performance evaluation of Department employees.75 In 2011, the Associated Press reported that state environmental regulators spend as little as 35 minutes reviewing each of the thousands of applications for natural gas well permits.76 Environmental groups in New York State highlighted a sharp decline in the number of well inspections after 2002, even as the number of wells installed grew dramatically to over 10,000 in 2012. Of the 155,000 wells installed in Pennsylvania and Ohio (a combined number), only around 10% have apparently been inspected. 77

A leading anti-fracking NGO, Food and Water Watch, argues strongly for a complete ban in the U.S., noting that:

Fracking is exempt from key federal water protections, and federal and state regulators have allowed unchecked expansion of fracking, creating widespread environmental degradation. Overwhelmed state regulators largely oversee the practice. Even if the laws on the books were strengthened, fracking poses too severe a risk to public health and the environment to entrust effective and rigorous regulatory oversight to these officials. Both state and federal regulators have a poor track record of protecting the public from the impacts of fracking.

Congress, state legislators and local governmental bodies need to ban shale gas fracking.

The Case of Illinois

U.S. environmental groups that that still consider shale gas to be a "bridge fuel"—such as the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC)—have tended to view regulation as a better option than banning fracking altogether because it allows for the preservation of whatever GHG mitigating advantages gas may have over the use of coal. The NRDC calls for a halt to fracking only "until sufficient safeguards are in place." However, Greenpeace, World Wildlife Fund (WWF), and Friends of the Earth have all called for a ban on fracking.

In the case of Illinois during Spring 2013, the "regulate or ban" issue resulted in an open split between the likes of the Sierra Club, the NRDC, and the pro-ban groups. Believing a ban to be beyond the capacities of the anti-fracking movement to accomplish in the short-to-medium term, the Sierra Club and NRDC decided to support a bill to regulate fracking in a state where drilling appeared imminent and no effective regulations were in place. In this context, they argued, any set of regulations—however inadequate—has to be viewed as a step forward and thus an opportunity to strengthen regulations over time. The bill, which subsequently passed in the state legislature, was designed to impose safety regulations on the gas industry that, among other things, required all waste—which includes "flowback" of all the chemical-laced water pumped into the ground—be stored in closed tanks, rather than the pits that chronically leak and overflow elsewhere. Restrictions were introduced on venting and flaring of natural gas (which contains the potent greenhouse gas methane, as well as other harmful constituents, and turns to smog), and a ban on the dangerous practice of injecting diesel (which contains carcinogenic hydrocarbons).79

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

The pro-ban, anti-fracking organizations were emphatically opposed to the legislation. In the words of one pro-ban activist:

Regulations cannot prevent well casings from leaking as they age and fail. Or keep methane from migrating through underground faults. Or eliminate the 24/7 noise pollution from drilling. Regulations cannot keep benzene from rising out of boreholes. There is no good storage solution for radioactive wastewater. And the jobs fracking provides are temporary and toxic.⁸⁰

Fracking is now being proposed in California where large shale gas deposits have been discovered. In September 2013, California voted to regulate fracking. The bill was criticized by the NRDC and other environmental groups as being too lax and the growing anti-fracking movement in California has viewed the regulations as a means of reassuring the public that fracking can be safe in the hope that opposition to fracking will dissipate.⁸¹

U.S. Federal Regulation – and Industry Self-Regulation

In October 2012, the Obama Administration offered millions of acres of America's public lands for oil and gas development accompanied by assurances that drilling approved on these territories would be subject to federal regulation.82 The U.S. Department of the Interior issued draft regulations addressing hydraulic fracturing on public lands. The proposals, which generated more than 177,000 comments during the public comment period, required companies to disclose fracking chemicals and verify that harmful fluids stay out of groundwater.83 The method of disclosure however, remains controversial. In April 2011, a voluntary chemical disclosure registry was launched for companies developing unconventional oil and gas wells, involving a website, FracFocus, where well operators and service companies report their chemical use to an online registry.84 The Obama administration

and eleven states declared this form of disclosure permissible.

An April 2013 report issued by Harvard Law School on the regulation of fracking noted:

Incomplete and inaccurate disclosures serve no public purpose. If a property owner searches for a well form on FracFocus, she may find that the form omits information required by the state, contains nonexistent Chemical Abstract Service (CAS) numbers, or hides the identity of chemicals. Unable to search across forms, the property owner will not know that other forms disclose chemicals withheld in this form or list different ingredients for the same product. If she asks for more information from FracFocus she will be denied on the grounds that the site's organizers are not subject to state or federal public records laws.⁸⁵

Concerns about the chemicals and their immediate and long-term impacts remain high and the confidence of grassroots anti-fracking activists in the industry's capacity for self-regulation appears to be correspondingly low.

The recent studies drawing attention to both the levels and likely severe implications of fugitive methane (discussed above) raise a new set of questions regarding the capacity of the industry to either regulate itself or be regulated at a level that is considered satisfactory. Adequate regulation of methane leakage from fracking could be even more elusive than using regulatory measures to protect water systems from contamination. Additionally, fugitive methane turns what might be dismissed as a local issue affecting water into a global issue affecting the entire planet. Thus the "regulate or ban" question now has global significance.

From Local Struggles to National Moratoriums

Local actions to restrict and stop fracking have produced visible results. In New York State, Governor Andrew Cuomo has yet (June 2014)



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

to decide whether the present moratorium on new fracking will be lifted or not.⁸⁶ Nevertheless, more than 100 New York communities have initiated bans on fracking. Numerous municipalities in other states across the adjoining Marcellus and Utica shale regions—as well as some in the more conservative Texas—have instituted local bans. Groups throughout the U.S.' Marcellus shale region have implemented local ordinances regulating aspects of drilling activity from truck traffic to noise levels. New York State courts have upheld local bans against industry lawsuits, setting a precedent that may be enshrined in the state's energy policy.⁸⁷

Aside from New York, no other state in the U.S. has a moratorium in place, either temporary or permanent. However, the list of countries where moratoriums have been introduced is growing, even if some have since been rescinded. A number of countries, including Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, France, Germany, Luxembourg, Northern Ireland, the Republic of Ireland, Romania, and South Africa, have imposed moratoriums on fracking. A moratorium is in place in the Czech Republic at least until the middle of 2014.⁸⁸ Regional moratoriums are in place in the province of Quebec, Canada, and in Victoria and New South Wales, Australia.⁸⁹

In France, drilling permits were issued in 2010 without public consultation in three locations, with 64 additional locations pending. This led to a grassroots movement that pressured local authorities to ban fracking, eventually leading to a national moratorium in July 2011.⁹⁰

Local actions also appear to be on the increase in countries where proposed moratoriums have been defeated or have yet to gain sufficient support to influence a national or parliamentary decision. In Poland, districts have banded together using private property rights, consent requirements, and formal petitions to deflect exploratory drilling. In the U.K., the village of Balcombe's Parish Council rejected a drilling

application by the energy company Cuadrilla "without even the briefest discussion."

However, achieving a moratorium is no guarantee of a final victory against fracking. The gas industry has applied immense pressure to remove any moratoriums that have been put in place, with South Africa and Romania both buckling under the pressure.92 France continues to be pressured to reverse its decision. Interestingly, activist groups in France initially called for a six-month moratorium to study the environmental impact of fracking but later called for a permanent ban. In Bulgaria, activists called for a legal ban to succeed the current moratorium, as have German anti-fracking activists in North Rhine-Westphalia. In Canada, sustained activism resulted in the Quebec regional government's introduction of a partial moratorium to allow for time to study environmental impacts. A bill to ban fracking for an additional five years was submitted to the Quebec national assembly in June 2013.93 In Romania, Prime Minister Victor Ponta's government imposed a moratorium in May 2012 pending the completion of the then ongoing European-level studies on the environmental impact of fracking. The moratorium ended in December 2012 and has not been extended. In January 2013, Prime Minister Ponta announced that shale gas exploration should be considered as something positive. The protests against the government continue as of this publication.

A Global Movement Emerging?

Anti-fracking activism has grown from small local pockets of resistance to a nascent global movement in recent years. Several cross-national initiatives have emerged in the last few years. In 2012, the Treasure Karoo Action Group based in South Africa forged a partnership with U.S. NGO Water Defense. Similarly, in 2012, the UK's Frack Off group and Bulgaria's Civil Society Against Shale Gas joined forces to mobilize grassroots activists against shale gas leases in



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

Romania's Dobruja region. The desire to protect the Danube River from contamination has provided the basis for cross-border solidarity and coordination between the anti-fracking movements in Bulgaria and Romania (the Danube runs through both countries). The movements, which are organized around the slogan "Two peoples, one river," have staged coordinated protests in a number of cities on either side of the border. In Bulgaria, the region where Chevron intends to drill is a major wheat producer and considered to be the agricultural heartland of the country. Protesters carry loaves of bread as they march, drawing attention to their concerns about water and soil contamination.⁹⁵

Meanwhile, French and particularly German anti-fracking activists are also active in Poland's anti-fracking movement. International environmental NGOs have also played a key networking role, supporting local anti-fracking groups and drawing attention to the global climate impacts of fracking.

The September 2012 and October 2013 Global Frackdown demonstrations offer yet more evidence that a global movement is emerging to tie the work of local groups together. Hed by Food and Water Watch, Global Frackdown includes affiliated organizations in six continents.

Trade Unions and Fracking

Shale gas exploration and drilling using hydraulic fracturing began just over a decade ago in Texas. It has since spread to seventeen U.S. states, is moving forward in Canada, and is proposed or already occurring in roughly a dozen countries. In 2012 fracking was a \$37 billion industry, according to one estimate.⁹⁷

Union responses to fracking are reviewed below, beginning with the U.S. and Canada. As noted above, 87% of the world's fracking is happening in North America and unions around the world could benefit from learning how unions in these two countries have responded both to fracking and to the opposition movement that has emerged. Global trade union bodies and national centers outside the U.S. and Canada have also begun to respond to fracking—a summary of these responses is also provided as well.

The United States and Canada

In the U.S., union positions on fracking have been largely shaped by those unions affiliated with the Building and Construction Trades Department (BCTD) of the AFL-CIO.98 The BCTD represents two million workers in the U.S. and Canada and has forged a close and increasingly public alliance with the oil and gas industry.99 In June 2009, the American Petroleum Institute and fifteen labor unions announced "the historic creation of the Oil and Natural Gas Industry Labor-Management Committee, which will work to promote job retention and growth... by promoting innovative and affordable access to energy that is vital to the American economy." The committee would engage in "a communications effort to educate the public and other stakeholders about the effects of legislation that would restrict exploration or hinder processing, refining and marketing of U.S. oil and natural gas products."100

The BCTD's alliance with the oil and gas industry has been the source of numerous pro-fracking resolutions adopted by state-level federations of the AFL-CIO. In the public discourse, unions have been mostly in favor of fracking and therefore opposed to any proposed or existing mor-



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

atoriums. This has been evident in key fracking states such as Illinois, Maryland, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Texas, and West Virginia. In these states, unions have stood alongside the Chambers of Commerce, the National Association of Manufacturers, and the American Petroleum Institute in supporting and promoting fracking. ¹⁰¹ Unions and industry have campaigned to promote shale gas drilling in the Marcellus shale, which spans several states, including Pennsylvania and New York. ¹⁰²

However, not all U.S. unions support fracking. In New York, the State AFL-CIO has not taken a position, despite the fact that both the International Union of Operating Engineers and the Northeast Council of Carpenters have joined the pro-industry Clean Growth Now coalition. 103 In September 2012, the New York City-based District Council 37, AFSCME (representing 140,000 public sector workers) called for a ban on fracking, citing concerns around toxic exposure for members of a union local (branch) representing public water and sanitation workers.¹⁰⁴ The NY State Nurses Association has also been a visible part of the anti-fracking movement. In California, AFSCME's District Council 57105 and the California Nurses Association, together representing over 100,000 workers, are both opposed to fracking. 106 In Pennsylvania, union opposition is weak with perhaps only the Communication Workers of America Local 1104 (10,000 members) opposed to fracking and supportive of a state-wide ban. 107 In Texas, union support, while visible, has been lukewarm because the quality of the jobs created by the shale gas industry is often poor.108

Overall, union opposition to fracking has been slow to surface, whereas unions that support fracking have been well organized and visible. There are several reasons for this disparity. The pro-fracking unions in the BCTD are in a transactional arrangement with the oil and gas industry whereby the unions' political advocacy is expected by the industry in return for the indus-

try agreeing to enter into Project Labor Agreements (PLA) to hire union workers. The unions opposed to fracking are almost invariably in a completely different situation. Their employers are normally not affected; they often have no jobs to gain or lose; and the decision to oppose fracking must be made for a different set of reasons—such as concerns about public health, climate change, solidarity with those struggling against the industry, and so on. Many unions would prefer not to publicly oppose something that another union or group of unions support, which also dampens opposition. Furthermore, fracking is not happening everywhere in the U.S., so unions in states not affected by fracking are far less likely to take a position. As a result, most of the large U.S. unions not in the BCTD remain effectively neutral. The main national coalition—Americans Against Fracking—lists only one union in its long list of allies, namely National Nurses United. 109

Unions in the U.S. have expressed concerns with regard to the health and safety of workers involved in shale gas drilling. The AFL-CIO, the United Steelworkers, and the United Mine Workers have lobbied regulatory authorities with regard to the risks facing workers exposed to crystalline silica, which is used in fracking. A study by the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) reported high levels of worker exposure to this substance, which is known to cause cancer as well as silicosis. 110 It also noted the high levels of fracking industry fatalities as a result of motor vehicle crashes, explosions, and accidents involving other machinery, resulting in a call for tougher standards by unions. Many pro-fracking unions seldom, if ever, acknowledge the public health concerns raised by groups that oppose fracking due to its use of toxic chemicals and the risk of water contamination, spills, and explosions from fracking.111

The Canadian trade unions' approach to fracking often contrasts quite sharply with the pro-frack-

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

ing unions in the U.S. Not only do major unions like CUPE and UNIFOR oppose fracking, they cite its negative impact on the climate and express solidarity with indigenous organizations that are fighting against shale gas drilling and tar sands expansion.112 Referencing "frightening pollution," UNIFOR's November 2013 Executive Board statement is also among the first to acknowledge "large emissions of methane" through leakage. 113 CUPE's statement extended solidarity to "community grassroots groups, as well as all other First Nation Communities as they protect Mother Earth for the benefit of all Canadians."114 UNIFOR and CUPE's perspective on fracking is grounded in a social movement approach that prioritizes solidarity with other movements and in a pragmatic approach to Canadian energy policy that calls for the use of natural resources in ways that are responsible and beneficial for the Canadian economy as a whole.

Does Fracking Create Jobs?

Unions in the U.S. often take the jobs claims made by the gas industry and pro-business groups at face value. For example, the U.S. Chamber of Commerce claimed that shale gas production "created over 300,000 new jobs in the last two years" (2010-2012).¹¹⁵ The U.S. Chamber of Commerce's Institute for 21st Century Energy claimed that 238,000 jobs were created in shale-related industries."¹¹⁶ After some questioning on the part of anti-fracking groups, the Chamber then issued a revised press release that changed the 238,000 jobs "created" to 180,000 jobs "supported" by natural gas. The U.S. Chamber did not explain the basis for (or the source of) this revised claim.¹¹⁷

The Chamber's numbers contrast sharply with the U.S. Department of Labor's job numbers. The Department states that between the fourth quarter of 2008 and the fourth quarter of 2011, the industry created a total of 18,007 jobs in "core" Marcellus industries, with an additional 5,611 jobs added in "ancillary" industries. 118

In a December 2013 report, Exaggerating the Employment Impacts of Shale Drilling the Multi-State Shale Research Collaborative examined employment in the Marcellus and Utica Shale in six states: Maryland, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia. The study found that, region-wide, shale-related employment accounts for nearly 33,000 jobs, one out of every 794 jobs in the six states. The education and health sectors by contrast, account for 4.5 million jobs in the region, one out of every six jobs. Other findings include:

- ⇒ In the region as a whole 8,750 wells were drilled.
- ⇒ An estimated 3.7 jobs were created for every well drilled in the region during the period 2005-2012. This figure stands in sharp contrast to the claims in industry-funded studies, which included estimates as high as 31 jobs created per well drilled.¹²⁰
- ⇒ Shale-related employment across the sixstate Marcellus/Utica region fell over the past twelve months from the first quarter of 2012 to the first quarter of 2013.

The report acknowledges that employment impacts of the shale gas industry go beyond the extraction and support activity jobs. Fracking creates jobs for suppliers to the industry, such as trucking companies that carry water to well pads, drilling equipment manufacturers, and real estate companies that help gas companies acquire drilling leases on land rich in shale gas. Beyond suppliers, jobs are also created when workers, business owners, and landowners spend the wages, profits, or royalties earned from the shale industry or its suppliers.

However, the report claims that the numbers of "indirect" and "induced" jobs claimed by pro-industry studies and the Chamber of Commerce



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

is more than double those that would have been calculated based on standard research methods.

The study concludes that the gas industry and its supporters have exaggerated the job benefits of horizontal drilling in the Marcellus and Utica Shale. While the industry has created jobs, particularly in Pennsylvania and West Virginia, the shale-related jobs numbers are far below industry claims. "Shale development is simply not a significant driver of job growth or the overall economies of the six states with major deposits." ¹²¹

The study also identified a drop in the number of wells drilled in 2012 and a drop in the number of jobs consistent with a classic "boom and bust" pattern for extractive industries.

Global Trade Union Bodies

As noted above, many unions outside of North America are only just becoming aware of fracking. The International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) and the principal Global Union Federation (GUF) representing members in the energy sector, IndustriALL, have yet to develop a fully formed position. However, the ITUC, IndustriALL, and other GUFS have strong positions on climate protection and sustainability in general. These standpoints provide a platform for a more robust engagement on fracking in the future.

Public Services International (PSI) recently addressed the issue of fracking as European Public Sector Unions, a regional body of PSI, adopted a resolution on fracking that "rejects the exploitation of shale gas (and oil) given the impact on the environment such as ground water." PSI brought the issue to the World Social Forum in Tunisia in March 2013 and PSI's Tunisian affiliate is also leading a campaign against fracking. 123

National Trade Union Centers

A review of national trade union centers' positions on fracking, based on the countries where fracking is either happening or proposed, suggests that most national centers have yet to weigh in on this important issue.

There are however, a few exceptions. At its 2012 conference, the Trades Union Congress (UK) adopted a motion stating "the fracking method of gas extraction should be condemned unless proven harmless for people and the environment. This type of energy production is not sustainable as it relies on a limited resource. There is evidence that it causes earthquakes and water pollution and further investigation should be carried out before any expansion."124 However, the French General Confederation of Workers (CGT) supported industry efforts to lift a moratorium on fracking introduced by France's Socialist government, having expressed concerns about France's energy security and the need for jobs. The CGT cited the need for more research on fracking, stating that it would not support using a technology that could result in environmental and social damage.125

In Argentina, the energy unions affiliated with the Argentinian Republic's Federation of Energy Workers (FeTERA) and the Central de Trabajadores de la Argentina (CTA) openly oppose fracking. Consistent with the kind of social movement unionism for which the CTA and FeTERA are both known, these unions have joined forces with the indigenous Mapuche who are fighting fracking and other drilling and mining projects in the Neuquén province. The Ceramics Workers' union based in Neuquén, representing workers in the cooperatives established after the 2001 economic crisis in Argentina, has also sided openly with the Mapuche. 127

Trade union centers in Australia and South Africa have yet to adopt a definitive position on fracking. The Congress of South African Trade



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

Unions' (COSATU) recent statement on the environment notes that COSATU must still resolve their position on some issues, one of which is fracking: "This is a method to harvest natural shale gas trapped in the earth, by hydraulically fracturing the earth at deep levels. The debates are: the process destroys

the land where fracking is done and there is a lot of evidence to suggest that this process is very damaging to underground water systems. It is banned or heavily restricted in at least 155 instances globally [...] will shale gas help South Africa's energy security and job creation?"¹²⁸

Conclusion

The present situation regarding fracking points to a scenario where the global gas industry will continue to promote the advantages of shale gas in terms of jobs, energy security, and climate protection (arguing that shale gas is a "bridge fuel" to renewables because it has lower emissions than coal at the point of combustion). As the push towards more exploration and commercial-scale drilling continues, the movement against fracking will also increase.

It seems inevitable that unions in a growing number of countries will be pulled into the struggles around fracking. And it seems increasingly likely that the anti-fracking movement will grow, making it difficult for unions to stay neutral. Unions could perhaps be more supportive of anti-fracking groups and even take leadership in instances where fracking has been proposed but a movement has not yet been organized.

Unions also have to grapple with the "regulate or ban" question. Can fracking be made safe through regulation? Unions must consider all reliable evidence when attempting to answer this question. Non-industry studies raise serious doubts that fracking could ever be given the "all clear" in terms of overall safety. Again, the U.S. provides a reference point on this issue—although geological formations vary from country to country, with risks fluctuating according to those variations.

Even if all of the water contamination and scarcity issues, along with concerns about chemicals and silica, were satisfactorily addressed, the question of "fugitive methane" from wells could be decisive in terms of the regulate versus ban debate.

In July 2011, the U.S. EPA announced it would urge the industry to reduce at least some of its methane emissions.¹²⁹ Scientific studies suggest that methane leakage could be reduced by as much a one-third (considering the entire life cycle, from well to final delivery of gas). With the new EPA regulations fully in place and enforced, the natural gas industry will remain the largest single source of methane pollution in the U.S., responsible for almost 40 percent of total human-controlled methane emissions.¹³⁰ Unions around the world should be aware of the importance of fugitive methane and examine the capacity of any proposed regulations to adequately resolve the problem.

Meanwhile, the UN has stressed the urgent need to reduce methane emissions globally, beginning immediately—in fossil fuel production, transport, waste management, and agriculture. In the case of shale gas, this would require extended recovery and utilization, rather than venting, of associated gas and improved control of unintended fugitive emissions from the production of gas.¹³¹



Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

Many of the concerns that gave birth to the anti-fracking movement appear to merit broad trade union support. Unfortunately, today's unions face capacity constraints and many competing priorities.

A collective deliberation might help resolve the challenge of capacity constraints. A global con-

ference sponsored by one or more global trade union bodies could work towards a common approach, with the "precautionary principle" as a point of departure. Indeed, the precautionary principle is presently central to most, if not all, union resolutions against fracking. Unions presently in favor of fracking might well wish to reconsider their support on the basis of this principle.

Appendix: Model Resolution - for Discussion

A draft model resolution is offered for discussion, calling for a global moratorium on fracking, as follows:

WHEREAS, the practice of hydraulic fracturing (fracking) for shale gas is today a growing global industry dominated by energy multinationals; and

WHEREAS, the process of fracking has led to serious levels of water contamination due to the toxic chemicals used in the fracturing process; and

WHEREAS, areas with scarce supplies of fresh water needed for drinking and agriculture are being deprived of this precious natural resource as a result of water-intensive shale gas development; and

WHEREAS, fracking is dangerous to the health of workers in the industry, due to the worker exposure to crystalline silica and (in some cases) radon, the high occurrence of vehicle accidents, falls, and tool-related injuries; and

WHEREAS, fracking has been proven to generate high levels of "fugitive" methane, a powerful greenhouse gas and therefore a major contributor to global warming; and

WHERAS, full life cycle assessments of shale gas report it as more harmful than coal in terms of global warming per unit of energy generated, meaning that shale gas is not a better option than coal from a climate protection perspective; and

WHEREAS, proposed regulations to make fracking safe are presently either not in place, not enforced or not effectively addressing the problems created by fracking in a satisfactory way; and

WHEREAS, shale gas is undermining the prospects of renewable energy, which creates more jobs and is better for the environment and public health; and

WHEREAS, fracking has inspired a global movement of grassroots organizations determined to protect their land, their water, and their air from damage generated by fracking;

BE IT RESOLVED that the (NAME OF UNION) supports an indefinite global moratorium on fracking, in accordance with the precautionary principle;

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the union will pursue opportunities to work alongside orga-

TRADE UNIONS FOR ENERGY DEMOCRACY

Developing Union Perspectives and Approaches

nizations opposed to fracking and encourage union members to participate when and where they can;

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED that the union will continue to fight the expansion of extreme fos-

sil-based energy while at the same time advocating for a new renewables-based, low carbon energy system operated under the democratic control and direction of communities and municipalities committed to full workers' rights and protections.

References

- 1 "Process of Hydraulic Fracturing." United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014.
- 2 Elizabeth Ridlington and John Rumpler. "Fracking by the Numbers: Impacts of Dirty Drilling at the State and National Level." Environment Connecticut Research & Policy Center, 2013.
- Francis Egan. "Why a bet on shale gas will transform Britain." The Telegraph, 3 Jul 2013. Recently, the government published the British Geological Survey's estimate of 1,300 trillion cu ft. of natural gas stored within the shale rock deep beneath northern England. If only ten percent of northern England's shale resources can be extracted, that would meet the UK's current gas demand for more than 40 years. Additionally with today's prices, it would have a market value of almost £1 trillion, without considering the gas and oil deposits elsewhere in the country. "Shale Gas Environmental Summit." SMi. 2014.
- 4 Jenn Tekin. "Shale Gas Production The Answer to Global Increased Energy Demand?" RenewableEnergyWorld.com, 11 Feb 2011.; Daly, John. "EIA report U.S. #1 in Shale Gas Reserves, Russia #1 in Shale Oil Reserves." EconoMonitor, 24 June 2013.
- 5 "Global Shale Gas Initiative." U.S. Department of State, 2010.
- Evan Hansen, Dustin Mulvaney, and Meghan Betcher. "Water Resource Reporting and Water Footprint from Marcellus Shale Development in West Virginia and Pennsylvania." Downstream Strategies, 30 Oct 2013.; Rebecca Hammer and Jeanne VanBriesen. "In Fracking's Wake: New Rules are Needed to Protect Our Health and Environment from Contaminated Wastewater." NRDC, 2012.
- 7 Sharon Begley. "Study raises new concern about earthquakes and fracking fluids." *Reuters*, 11 Jul 2013.
- 8 Mireya Navarro. "Wastewater Becomes Issue in Debate on Gas Drilling." The New York Times, 3 May 2012.
- 9 Becky Hammer. "Fracking's Aftermath: Wastewater Disposal Methods Threaten Our Health &

- Environment." Switchboard. NRDC, 9 May 2012.
- Will Kennedy. "Exxon Charged With Illegally Dumping Waste in Pennsylvania." Bloomberg, 11 Sep 2013.
- 11 OSHA and NIOSH. "Hazard Alert: Worker Exposure to Silica during Hydraulic Fracturing." U.S. Department of Labor.
- 12 OGIB Research Team. "US Silica: The First IPO in the 'Fracking Sand' Industry." Oil and Gas Investment Bulletin, 17 Feb 2012.; Alison Sider and Kristin Jones. "In Fracking, Sand Is the New Gold Energy Boom Fuels Demand for Key Ingredient Used in Drilling Wells; 100 Sand Mines in Wisconsin." The Wall Street Journal, 2 Dec 2013.
- 13 OSHA and NIOSH, Op. Cit.
- 14 Robert W. Howarth, et al. "Methane and the greenhouse-gas footprint of natural gas from shale formations;" *Climatic Change*, Jun 2011. pp. 679-690; Richard A. Lovett. "Study Revises Estimate of Methane Leaks from U.S. Fracking Fields." *Scientific American*, 17 Sep 2013.; Robert W. Howarth, Renee Santoro, and Anthony Ingraffea. "Venting and leaking of methane from shale gas development: response to Cathles et al." *Climatic Change*, 10 Jan 2012.
- 15 "Review & Outlook: Tories Against Fracking: U.K. Conservatives were fine with shale exploration, until it came to their backyards." The Wall Street Journal, 15 Aug 2013.
- Jonathan Wood. "The Global Anti-Fracking Movement: what it wants, how it operates and what's next." Control Risks, 2012.
- "Exposing the Oil and Gas Industry's False Jobs Promise for Shale Gas Development: How Methodological Flaws Grossly Exaggerate Jobs Projections." Food & Water Watch, 15 Nov 2011.; David Hughes. "Drilling California: A Reality Check on the Monterey Shale." Post-Carbon Institute, 2 Dec 2013.
- "Unifor National Executive Board Resolution on Fracking." Unifor, 12 Nov 2013.
- "Congress Decisions 2012." Trades Union Congress, 2012.
- 20 John Daly. "EIA report U.S. #1 in Shale Gas Re-



- serves, Russia #1 in Shale Oil Reserves." *Econo-Monitor*, 24 June 2013.
- 21 "Are We Entering a Golden Age of Gas?." World Energy Outlook. International Energy Association, 2011.
- "Given that the more easily accessible deposits have already been largely extracted, the newer unconventional methods are significant consumers of natural resources, as each wave of extractive technologies demands ever more capital and natural resources to wrench the material from its source. That makes this emerging global energy regime even more based on corporate enclosures and unsustainable exploitation of natural resources than previous ones." Timothé Feodoroff, Jennifer Franco, and Ana Maria Rey Martinez. "Old Story, New Threat: Fracking and the global land grab." TNI Agrarian Justice Programme, Oct 2013.
- 23 EAI/ARI World Shale Gas and Shale Oil Resource Assessment. Advanced Resources International, June 2013.; Annual Energy Outlook 2013. U.S. Energy Information Administration, April 2013.
- The EIA's data has nevertheless been challenged. A recent report by the Post-Carbon Institute has argued that the amount of recoverable shale gas in the U.S. has been significantly overestimated. It estimates that the U.S. has 2170 tcf of natural gas. Even if all of the shale gas in the ground could be recovered, it would certainly not last 100 years. Furthermore, the rise in the use of shale gas merely compensates for the sharp decline in the production of conventional natural gas - so there is no real increase in gas use overall. (U.S. gas production in 2009 was still four percent below the 1973 gas production peak). David Hughes. Drill, Baby, Drill; Can Unconventional Fuels Usher in a New Era of Energy Abundance? Post-Carbon Institute, Feb 2013.
- 25 John Broderick et al. Shale gas: an updated assessment of environmental and climate change impacts. Tyndall Centre for Climate Change, Nov 2011
- 26 Ashley Craig, Howard Learner, and Peter Gray. The Solar and Wind Energy Supply Chain in Ohio. Environmental Law & Policy Center, Jan 2011.
- 27 The company blamed market conditions due to lack of congressional action on a wind energy tax credit as well as increased use of natural gasfired power plants. It said it has worked for the past ten months to address the uncertainties but needed to adjust its work force until demand for turbines returns. "Siemens to lay off 615 in lowa, Kansas, Florida." CBS News, 18 Sep 2012.
- 28 Keith Schneider. "US Fossil Fuel Boom Dims Glow of Clean Energy," *Yale Environment 360*, 29 Mar 2012.
- 29 John McKenna. "Vestas slashes another 1,400 jobs - for now." Wind Power Monthly, 1 Sep 2012.
- 30 Diane Cardwell. "Tax Credit in Doubt, Wind Pow-

- er Industry is Withering," *The New York Times*, 20 Sep 2012.
- 31 Stephen Lacey. "Top Three Reasons Cheap Natural Gas Won't Kill Renewable Energy." Think Progress. 21 Feb 2012.
- 32 IEA, op. cit.; Paul Bermondzohn. "Big Oil Purchases Chart (Marcellus Shale)." Compiled for activists in 2011. Unpublished.
- 33 "Record-Breaking 19K New Wells to be Fracked in 2012." *Marcellus Drilling News*, 20 Jan 2012.
- 34 Catherine T. Yang. "China Drills into Shale Gas, Targeting Huge Reserves amid Challenges." National Geographic, 3 Dec 2013.
- 35 Feodoroff et al. Op cit.
- 36 "Joint Statement at the TPP Ministers Meeting in Singapore." Office of the United States Trade Representative, 2014.
- 37 "Undermining Local Democracy: Fast Track, the TPP and Your Community." Food & Water Watch, Nov 2013.
- 38 Jeff Gray. "Quebec's St. Lawrence fracking ban challenged under NAFTA." The Globe and Mail, 22 Nov 2012.
- 39 "The Trans-Pacific Partnership: Fast Tracking Fracking." Food & Water Watch, Sep 2013.
- 40 "List of Bans Worldwide." Keep Tap Water Safe, 30 Apr 2014.
- 41 "The Trans-Pacific Partnership." Op. cit.
- 42 U.S. Energy Information Administration. "Japan." U.S. Department of Energy. 29 October 2013.
- 43 "The Trans-Pacific Partnership." Op. cit.
- 44 Jamie Desplaces. "The Deeper You Dig, The Darker It Gets." Massive Magazine, 19 March 2012.
- 45 Ridlington and Rumpler. Op. cit.
- 46 David Fig. "Extraction and displacement: the potential social and environmental impacts of hydraulic fracturing in South Africa." Land Deal Politics Initiative, 2012.
- 47 Catherine T. Yang. "China Drills Into Shale Gas, Targeting Huge Reserves Amid Challenges." National Geographic, 3 Dec 2013.
- 48 Henry A. Waxman, Edward J. Markey, and Diana DeGette. "Chemicals Used in Hydraulic Fracturing." United States House of Representatives Committee on Energy and Commerce Minority Staff, 2011.
- 49 NYS DEC, op cit.
- 50 John Platt. "Fracking Makes Livestock Sick, Says Recent Study of Natural Gas Drilling on Animal and Human Health." *Huffington Post*, 2012.; Hannah Wiseman. "Trade Secrets, Disclosure, and Dissent in a Fracturing Energy Revolution." *Columbia Law Review*, Jan 2011.
- 51 "Anti-fracking mobilization suppressed and indigenous houses burnt due to resistance over Chevron-YPF agreement." Observatorio petrolero sur Impactos socio-ambientales de la industria hidrocarburifera Hacia la soberania energetica, 3 September 2013.
- 52 Ibid.



- 53 Hernan Scandizzo. "Oil Drilling Threatens Indigenous Mapuche in Argentina." IC Magazine, 22 February 2012.
- "Comunidades mapuche y gremios estatales se movilizarán mañana contra el acuerdo." Observatorio petrolero sur Impactos socio-ambientales de la industria hidrocarburifera Hacia la soberania energetica, 27 August 2013.
- 55 Sam Koplinka-Loehr. "Protectors vs. Destroyers: Canadians Unite to Stop Fracking in New Brunswick." *Portside*, 15 Oct 2013.
- Tim Fontaine. "Despite heavy RCMP presence Mi'kmaq, Maliseet continue anti-fracking protests in New Brunswick." APTN National News, 7 Jun 2013.; Nicky Young. "Oil Giant SWN is Suspending its Work in New Brunswick After Nationwide Protests." Vice, 6 Dec 2013.
- 57 World Meteorological Organization, UNEP. "Climate Change 2013; The Physical Science Basis." Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2013.
- 58 Ramon A. Alvarez, Stephen W. Pacala, James J. Winebrake, and William L. Chameides. "Greater focus needed on methane leakage from natural gas infrastructure." Proceedings of the National Academy of the United States of America 109.17, 2012. pp 6435-6440.
- 59 Howarth et al. "Methane." Op. cit.; Lovett. Op. Cit.; Howarth et al. "Venting." Op. cit.
- 60 Emission Database for Global Atmospheric Research (EDGAR), 2010.; Scot M. Miller, Steven C. Wofsy, Anna M. Michalak, et al. "Anthropogenic emissions of methane in the United States." Proceedings of the National Academy of the United States of America, 2013.
- 61 "The Global Anti-Fracking Movement." Op cit.
- 62 "Fracking Causes Health Impacts: Pennsylvania Fracking Victims Come to Albany to Detail Serious Health Issues." New Yorkers Against Fracking, 2012.
- 63 "Bulgaria says Chevron cannot use fracking to search for shale gas." The Sofia Echo, 17 Jan 2012.
- "Resistance to fracking in Poland." Friends of the Earth Europe, 28 Feb 2013.; "Kyiv Post: Legal battle looms over shale gas development." Natural Gas Europe, 22 Feb 2013.
- 65 Bloomberg. "Chevron says shale to help make Argentina energy independent." Fuel Fix, 17 May 2013.; see also: "Chevron and Argentina sign oil deal amid protests." Euronews, 17 Jul 2013.
- 66 Claudia Campero-Arena. "Claudia Campero-Arena's Blog." The Council of Canadians, 2013.
- 67 Fiona Heavey. "Zero chemical promise on fracking is not enough." *Leitrim Observer*, 1 Sep 2011.
- 68 "No Fracking in Balcombe Society (No FiBs)." Change.org.
- "Tories Against Fracking." Op. cit.; Jan Goodey. "The UK's anti fracking movement is growing." Ecologist, 1 Aug 2013.; Geoffrey Lean. "Fracking faces tough foes in leafy Sussex Shale gas and oil

- may hold the key to Britain's energy troubles but not if grassroots protesters have their way." *The Telegraph*, 28 Jun 2013.; Jon Henley. "Fracking protest: who's who in the battle of Balcombe?" Shortcuts Blog. *The Guardian*, 30 Jul 2013.
- 70 chllptr. "Farmers against Fracking march and rally, Melbourne, 18 August 2013." 2013.
- According to the Center for American Progress, "hydraulic fracturing needs to be done carefully and be well-monitored, with particular attention paid to the full scope of carbon dioxide released into our atmosphere to gauge accurately the consequences of global warming due to the expanded use of natural gas.[...] We now know we need a full investigation into exactly how fracking is done and what it does to our drinking water and our environment." Tom Kenworthy, et al. "Drilling Down on Fracking Concerns: The Potential and Peril of Hydraulic Fracturing to Drill for Natural Gas." Center for American Progress, 21 Mar 2011.
- 72 Rebecca Burns. "A Fracktious Debate: Greens are divided on whether to regulate fracking or hold out for a ban." *In These Times*, 10 Jul 2013.
- 73 William Boston. "Germany Debates Fracking as Energy Costs Rise." The Wall Street Journal, 1 Mar 2013.
- 74 Fatih Birol, Christian Besson, et al. "Golden Rules for a Golden Age of Gas, World Energy Outlook Special Report on Unconventional Gas." International Energy Agency, 12 Nov. 2012.
- 75 "Corbett Tells DEP to Expedite Permit Process." State Impact. NPR, 24 Jul 2012.
- 76 Kevin Begos. "Pennsylvania's 'Permit Decision' Puts Public 'At Risk,' Critics Charge." *Huffington Post*, 13 Aug 2012.
- 77 Brian Nearing. "State Well Inspections 'Inadequate." *Times-Union*, 17 Jul 2012.
- 78 Frances Beinecke. "Protecting Communities from Fracking's Impacts." *Switchboard*. NRDC, 24 May 2013.
- 79 Ann Alexander. "Illinois Poised to Lead the Nation in Strong Fracking Regulations." Switchboard. NRDC, 21 Feb 2013.; Rebecca Burns. Op. Cit.
- 80 "SB1715: We will still fight this horrible legislation." SAFE: Southern Illinoisans Against Fracturing Our Environment, 2013.
- 81 Mark Melnicoe. "Brown Says He'll Sign California Bill Regulating Fracking." Bloomberg, 12 Sep 2013.; Californians Against Fracking.
- 82 "Obama Administration Offers More Than 20 Million Acres Offshore Texas for Oil and Natural Gas Exploration and Development" U.S. Department of the Interior, 2012.
- 83 "BLM Extends Public Comment Period on Proposed Hydraulic Fracturing Rule." U.S. Department of the Interior, 7 Jun 2013.
- 84 FracFocus Chemical Disclosure Registry. Ground Water Protection Council and Interstate Oil and Gas Compact Commission.



- 85 "Policy Initiative Releases Report on Fracking Chemical Disclosure." Harvard Law School Environmental Law Program, 23 Apr 2013.; Travis Mitchell. "Fracking regulation remains divisive." FierceEnergy, 1 Jul 2013.
- 86 Associated Press. "Cuomo admin: 'No timetable' on fracking decision." The Wall Street Journal, 1 May 2013.; Bryan Walsh. "As Obama Visits Upstate New York, the Fracking Debate Takes Center Stage." Time, 22 Aug 2013.
- 87 Gurule, Kendall. "New York fracking regulations." Frackwire, 24 Jun 2013.
- 88 Justin Jacobs. "Czech Republic nears fracking moratorium." *Petroleum Economist*, 6 Sep 2012.
- 89 Jessica Ernst. "Quebec to seek ban on shale gas fracking: Minister." Ernst v. EnCana Corporation, 2011.
- 90 Feodoroff, et al. Op cit.
- 91 Peter Popham. "The battle of Balcombe: West Sussex town is new front line in fracking debate." The Independent, 25 Aug 2013.; Sophie Yeo. "Fracking live: UK protests as they happened." Responding to Climate Change, 19 Aug 2013.
- 92 Ioana Patran. "Romania gears up for more shale gas exploration – minister." Reuters, 23 May 2013.; Wendell Roelf. "S.Africa lifts moratorium on shale gas exploration." Reuters, 7 Sep 2012.
- 93 The Canadian Press. "Quebec Fracking Ban Would Impose 5-Year Moratorium In St. Lawrence River Valley." Huff Post Business Canada, 15 May 2013.
- 94 Treasure Karoo Action Group. "International anti-fracking coalition established," 16 Feb 2012.; see also: *Water Defense*.
- 95 Angel Angelov. Presentation. Bulgarian Mission to the UN, 25 Nov 2013, New York.
- 96 "Activists on Six Continents to Urge Global Leaders to Ban Fracking." Food & Water Watch. 18 Oct 2013
- 97 Joe Carroll. "Fracking market to grow 19% to US\$37Bn worldwide in 2012." Financial Post, 20 Jan 2012.
- 98 The Building Trades. Building and Construction Trades Department.
- 99 "New OSHA Silica Standard is Welcome News to U.S. Construction Workers." *The Building Trades*. Building and Construction Trades Department, 27 Aug 2013.
- 100 "API, labor sign historic jobs promotion agreement." American Petroleum Institute, 17 Jun 2009
- 101 Tom Wolf and Michael T. Carrigan. "Illinois Chamber, AFL-CIO agree on compromise over fracking rules." Chicago Tribune, 19 May 2013.; "Resolution of the 29th Biennial Convention." Maryland State and District of Columbia AFL-CIO, 26 Oct 2013.; Shawn Bennett. "Increased Shale Development Is Good For Ohio Workers." Energy In Depth, 11 Oct 2013.; Wayne J. D'Angelo. "Hydraulic Fracturing, Natural Gas, and the U.S. Manufac-

- turing Renaissance Conference Assembles Over 60 Industry Leaders to Discuss Emerging Issues in Natural Gas Development." *Fracking Insider*, 24 Oct 2012.; "W.VA. Fracking Industry Spurs IBEW Jobs." International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, 30 Aug 2013.
- "Marcellus." Oil and Natural Gas Industry Labor-Management Committee. Sean McGarvey, head of the North American Building Trades' Unions, is also Co-Chair of the Oil and Natural Gas Industry Labor-Management Committee "a unique partnership between America's Building Trades Unions and the American Petroleum Institute (API)," "President." The Building Trades. Building and Construction Trades Department.
- 103 Associated Press. "New group in NY says 'hydrofracking' can be safe." The Wall Street Journal, 10 Nov 2011.
- "Union supports campaign to ban fracking in New York." American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees (AFSCME) District Council 37, 06 Jun 2012.
- 105 Brooke Anderson. "WE CAN STOP THE CLIMATE CRISIS!" American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees (AFSCME) District Council 37, 2013.
- 106 "Member Organizations." Californians Against Fracking.
- 107 Communications Workers of America Local 1104.
- 108 Becky Moeller, president of the Texas AFL-CIO says, "We don't know how long that fracking is going to last, but they're not long term jobs. You don't accrue a pension. You don't accrue benefits in most of those groups." Fred Cantu. "Gov. Perry Touts Pro-Business Policies At Home." KEYE-TV, Nov 2013.
- 109 "Americans Against Fracking Calls for a Ban on Fracking in the United States." Food & Water Watch, 6 Dec 2012.
- 110 OSHA and NIOSH. Op. Cit.
- 111 "Resolution of the 29th Biennial Convention." Maryland State and District of Columbia AFL-CIO, 26 Oct 2013.
- 112 Working Harmoniously on the Earth. Canadian Union of Public Employees, March 2013.; "Unifor calls for national moratorium on fracking." Unifor, 14 Nov 2013.
- 113 "Unifor National Executive Board Resolution on Fracking." Unifor, 12 Nov 2013.
- 114 Canadian Union of Public Employees. "Emergency Resolution No. 801." CUPE National Convention, Québec City, 21-25 Oct 2013.
- 115 Figures in this sentence come from: Donald Gilliland. "US Chamber of Commerce launches progas campaign with inaccurate jobs numbers." Patriot News (Pennsylvania), 19 Jul 2012.
- 116 Institute for 21st Century Energy. *Pennsylvania Fact Sheet*. U.S. Chamber of Commerce, 2012.
- 117 Institute for 21st Century Energy. "U.S. Cham-



MEDEA BENJAMINDRONE SURVEILLANCE AND WARFARE

- ber's Energy Institute Launches 'Shale Works for US' campaign in Pennsylvania." U.S. Chamber of Commerce, 19 Jul 2012.
- 118 Donald Gilliland. Op cit.
- 119 Frank Mauro, Michael Wood, et al. "Exaggerating the Employment Impacts of Shale Drilling: How and Why." Multi-State Shale Research Collaborative, 21 Nov 2013.
- 120 Timothy Considine, Robert Watson, and Nicholas Considine, The Economic Opportunities of Shale Energy Development. The Manhattan Institute, May 2011.
- 121 Mauro, Wood, et al. Op.cit., p 35.
- 122 "European Public Sector Unions reject the exploitation of shale gas." Trade Unions For Energy Democracy.
- 123 "Tunisia: Trade unions organise national campaign against fracking." Public Services International, 14 Nov 2012.; "Energy and development policies at the WSF." Public Services International, 15 Apr 2013.
- 124 "Green motions at Congress 2012." Trade Union Congress, 2012.
- 125 Michel Rose. "Analysis: Clock ticking on French

- fracking veto." *Reuters*, 25 Sep 2012.; "Entretien avec Marie-Claire Cailletaud de la CGT Mines énergie." *L'Humanité.fr*, 14 Feb 2013.
- 126 "LA CTA de Capital Federal Marchó a la Casa de Neuquén." FeTERA, 30 Aug 2013.; "La CTA Se Suma A La Movida 'Anti-Fracking." Patagonia Energetica, 29 Jul 2013.
- 127 "Comunidades Mapuche y Gremios Estatales Se Movilizaran Manana Contra El Acuerdo." Observatorio Petrolero Sur, 27 Aug 2013.
- 128 "A just transition to a low-carbon and climate resilient economy; COSATU policy on climate change." Congress of South African Trade Unions (COSATU), 2012.
- 129 Physicians Scientists and Engineers for Healthy Energy (PSE). "Experts: EPA Shale Gas Emission Rules Too Little, Too Late." Digital Journal, 30 Apr 2012.
- 130 Physicians Scientists and Engineers for Health Energy.
- 131 "Near-term Climate Protection and Clean Air Benefits: Actions for Controlling Short-Lived Climate Forcers." United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Nov 2011.

Related TUED Text

Resist, Reclaim, Restructure

Unions and the Struggle for Energy Democracy Sean Sweeney - April 2013



TUED Partners:



































































TUED is a global community of unions in partnership with:



